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Gothic Forms on Cyprus

Michele Bacci

Rising amid palm trees, prominent and improbable under the Mediterranean
sun, these buildings challenge interpretation. That they served as mosques after
the Ottoman conquest of Cyprus in 1571 makes them all the more complex.
They looked exotic to me when I first encountered them in 1970; my effort to
accommodate their complexity has paralleled the broader post-colonial concern
with identity and diversity that has turned Cyprus during the intervening
decades from an exotic site into a potent social paradigm.'

In these words, which were intended as a commentary to the huge Gothic
cathedrals of Nicosia and Famagusta, Annemarie Weyl Carr has described the
shift that she experienced in her methodological approach to the very peculiar
artistic space of medieval Cyprus, originally investigated as a dynamic
periphery of Byzantine empire and later increasingly interpreted as privileged
space for the analysis of cross-cultural convergences and artistic interactions.
This shift was concretely connected to her more and more intensive
exploration of the island’s astounding landscape of domes, gargoyles, and
minarets, where the scholar’s emotion in front of the extensive Comnenian
paintings of the Troodos mountains could be combined with the surprised
discovery of sumptuous Gothic cathedrals and enhanced by a somewhat
irrational fascination for archaic tombs officiated as churches: Armenian and
Greek churches made according to Gothic patterns; Latin churches converted
into mosques; Turkish hamams labeled as “Greek baths”; and sepulchers
of renowned dervishes composed of Roman marble. The encounter with
this exceptionally complex land elicits many questions and challenges the

1 AW. Carr, “Correlative spaces: Art, identity, and appropriation in Lusignan

Cyprus,” Modern Greek Studies Yearbook 14/15 (1998-99), p. 59-80, esp. 59; repr. in AW. Carr, -
Cyprus and the Devotional Arts of Byzantium in the Ern of the Crusades, Aldershot 2005, pp.
59--80.
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the 1360s onwards very close to a much smaller building (supposed to ma
the burial site of Saint Epiphanius of Salamis), the Greek bishop’s main chur
was meant to rival the sumptuous appearance of the nearby Latin cathedr:
probably in order to assess that the latter was not more dignified and devo
than the former.® It is worth stressing that this building demonstrates th
rivaling did not mean promoting an autonomous, indigenous style as oppost
to that of the Cypriot rulers. On the contrary, it was aimed at overcomi
their rulers” achievements on their own ground by imitating such ornament
and structural features as tracery windows and flying buittresses. The wo
“imitation” should be intended herewith as a cultural process implying
selective use of both forms and building techniques as a means to enhan
the beauty, dimensions, and solemnity of the cult-place, instead of imagini
an unconditioned and passive acceptance of foreign “influence”. Actuall
enthusiasm for Gothic forms did not prevent buildings from being provids
with semicircular apses, which proved indispensable for the performance

the Byzantine rite, and Palaiologan painters from either Constantinople

Thessaloniki were involved in their decoration.

Yet, the structural and aesthetic efficaciousness that happened to |
attributed to Gothic architecture by the inhabitants of towns dominated t
imposing Gothic cathedrals constitutes just one of the motif-forces underlyit
the phenomenon of appropriation and elaboration of Gothic forms on tl
part of non-Latins. Westerners not only exported architectural and spati
patterns, but also manifested a functional approach to church interiors th
soon proved to be appealing even to Orthodox believers. Extant evidence
Famagusta points out that the naves of Latin-rite churches were extensive
used as burial spaces and were accordingly embellished with ornaments ar
structures associated with the performance of votive masses and other forn
of liturgical commemoration which took place at side-altars that, as can st
be seen in the church of Saints Peter and Paul (Sinan Pasha Camii), cou
be included within a diminutive chapel in the form of a pointed-arched w
recess. Such a type of structure —echoing that of funerary arcosolia and beir
concretely combined or associated with tombs—was frequently employed

8 Enlart, Gothic Art, pp. 253-8; G. Jeffery, A Description of the Historic Monuments

Cyprus. Studies in the Archaeology and Architecture of the Island, Nicosia 1918, pp. 147-F
G. Sotiriou, Ta pvCavtiva pvnueia tne Kompov, Athens 1935, pl. 34, figs 48, 49+, 50%, 6l
T.5.R. Boase, “The arts in Cyprus. A. Ecclesiastical Art,” in K.M. Setton (ed.), A History of {
Crusades, Madison, WI1969-89, vol. 4: The Art and Architecture of the Crusader States, ed. H.\
Hazard, 1977, pp. 165-95 (177-9); M. Rivoire-Richard, "H yotOua Téxvn otnv Kvmpo,”
Th. Papadopoullos (ed.), Iotopia t1¢ Kompov, Nicosia 1995, vol. 5, pp. 1415-4 (1423);

Gioles, H ypiotiavixiy té yvn oty Kompo, Nicosia 2003, p. 144; A.G. Marangou, Appioxwotc
H wotopia 1 méAns, Nicosia 2005, pp. 112-17; A.W. Carr, “Art,” in A. Nicolaou-Konn:
and Ch. Schabel (eds), Cyprus. Society and Culture 1191-1374, Leiden/Boston 2005, pp. 28
328 (315-16); Th. Soulard, “L'architecture gothique grecque du royaume des Lusignar
les cathédrales de Famagouste et Nicosie,” in Identités croisées, pp. 355-84 (356-65); I
Plagnieux and Th. Soulard, “La cathédrale Saint-Georges des Grecs,” in Liart gothique

Chypre, pp. 286-96.
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town, as is evidenced by the extant examples in the Carmelite and Franciscan
churches as well as in the Benedictine church of Saint Anne and in other
buildings. The analogous wall recesses that are encountered in both Saint
George of the Greeks and the probably Arab Melkite church of Agios Georgios
Exorinos indicate that, by means of the imitation of such pro anima chapels,
their lay patrons manifested the same interest in the privatization of sacred
spaces that was cultivated by their Latin fellow citizens.?

It is worth remarking that in Cyprus, as in the other “mixed” societies of
the Levant, where several cultural communities shared the same space and
destiny, the phenomena of juxtaposition and coexistence of different artistic
manifestations in the same context or even in the same building were more
frequent than the cases of stylistic synthesis. The latter was usually borne out
of a decades-long process of interactions and familiarization of each human
group with other people’s forms, and was expressed more by architecture
and ornament than by figurative arts, where other criteria prevailed, as
is evidenced by the authoritativeness almost universally associated with
Byzantine religious painting.

On the whole, the analysis of the remnants of painted decoration in the
buildings of Famagusta has evidenced that the different communities tended
to embellish their own buildings with Byzantine or Byzantinizing murals; a
number of them (including those in the Carmelite church, Saint Anne’s, the
tiny Armenian church, and the Syrian-rite building known as Agios Georgios
Exorinos) were probably decorated by the same atelier of Palaiologan
painters, who worked in a very high-quality style best paralleled by works
made in Macedonia and Serbia in the last decades of the fourteenth and the
beginning of the fifteenth centuries. Such artists remained loyal to the standard
compositional and stylistic formulae used in mainland Byzantium, even if
they might happen to slightly modify their iconography to make it suitable
for their audiences’ visual conventions, as is revealed in the Carmelite church
by the representation of Saint Nicholas in Western garb, whose mitria and
pallium were clearly meant to enable Latin-rite beholders to fully recognize
the saint as a Latin bishop.

Yet, other considerations could encourage Greek painters to appropriate
Western, i.e. Italianate, features. The diffusion of a basically transconfessional
religious sensibility which, in the context of a mercantile town, placed a very
strong emphasis on individual piety and private strategies for the afterlife,
paved the way to the diffusion of devotional images meant to express the

9 On such issues, see M. Bacci, “Arte e raccomandazione dell’anima nei domini latini

del Levante: alcune riflessioni,” in Chr. Maltezou and G. Varzelioti (eds), Oltre la morte.
Testamenti di Greci e Veneziani redatti a Venezia o in territorio greco-veneziano nei sec. XIV-XVIII,
proceedings of a symposium (Venice, Hellenic Institute of Byzantine and Post-Byzantine
Studies, 22-3 January 2007), Athens 2008, p. 131-59; M. Bacdi, “Side-altars and ‘pro anima’
chapels in the medieval Mediterranean: Evidence from Cyprus,” in V.M. Schmidt and J.
Kroesen (eds), The Altar and Its Environment 1150-1400, Turnhout 2009, pp. 11-30.
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sixteenth or early seventeenth-century iconostasis which proved to be an odd
mixture of Gothic, Renaissance, and Byzantine motifs, and when entering the
church, they went through a doorway provided with moldings and voussoirs
(Figure 7.7).°

About a century after the Ottoman conquest the Greek Orthodox Church
was powerful enough to promote the construction of new churches. The new
buildings, though simple and often diminutive, not infrequently aimed at
emulating the sumptuousness of the former Latin churches converted into
the most distinctive Muslim monuments by both retaining some Gothic
architectural devices (such as pointed arches, buttresses, and vaulted naves)
and by displaying remnants of ruined churches. In the eighteenth-century
metropolitan church of Saint John, annexed to the Greek archbishopric,
the facade was embellished with parts of sculpted sarcophagi,® whereas
remnants of other funerary monuments were used to enhance the beauty
of each doorway in the late seventeenth-century church of Saint Michael
Tripiotis.22 The reliefs exhibited over the main portal are so oddly linear and
“Romanesqueizing” that one is led to suspect that they may be an awkward
imitation of medieval style made in the Ottoman period.

Such cases vividly illustrate the Greek Cypriots’ appreciation of medieval
antiquities, which was probably connected to the prestige associated with the
most eminent buildings of Nicosia and Famagusta.? It is worth stressing that
even in the nineteenth century, when this community promoted the highly

Mamas on Cyprus see most notably A. Marava-Chatzinikolaou, O dytog Mduag, Athens
1953, pp. 70-84. On “mixed” shrines see also H. Luke, Cyprus. A Portrait and an Appreciation,
London/Nicosia 1965, pp. 145-60; M. Bacci, “‘Mixed’ shrines in the Late Byzantine
period,” in L.A. Beljaev (ed.), Archaeologia Abrahamica. Vccacdosarius 6 obaaciu apxeoroau
U xydoxcecngel ol mpaduyiy uydausza, XpUcmuancmen, u ucaama/Studies in Archaeology and
Artistic Tradition of Judaism, Christianity and Islam, Moscow 2009, pp. 433-4.

20 On the church architecture and furnishings cf. Enlart, Gothic Art, pp. 166-70; Jeffery,
A Description, pp. 221-2; Gunnis, Historic Cyprus, p. 349; P. Stylianou and N. Christodoulou,
H exxAnoia 1" Anp Méua xi ot dAAeg exkAnNoies e Katexouevne Moppov, Nicosia 1985,
pp. 16-23; D. Myriantheus, “ExxAnowotuch doxirerovua) {130g-200¢ alcovac),” in Tepa
Muzpémodic Mopgov. 2000 ypovia TExvie xai &y6TnToc, exhibition catalogue {Nicosia,
Cultural Foundation of the Bank of Cyprus, 2000), Nicosia 2000, pp. 71-96 (71-2); Ch.E.
Kourres, “Aytog Mauag 6 peydAog &ytog e Méodov,” ibid., pp. 229-39 (234-8); Gioles,
H yprotiavixiy téyvn, p. 144; Chr. A. Hadjichristodoulou, The Cathedral Church of St. Mamas,
Morphou, Nicosia 2010; W. C. Remsen, “The Survey of the Church”, in M. Jones and A.
Milward Jones (eds.), The Canopy of Heaven. The Ciborium in the Church of St. Mamas, Morphou,
[Nicosia] 2010, pp. 71-101.

21 Enlart, Gothic Art, pp. 163-4; Jeffery, A Description, pp. 35-7; Gunnis, Historic Cyprus,

pp. 68-70; A. Papageorghiou, “O xaBedoucdg vaog tov Ayiou Todvvou ot Aeviewoia,”

Kvnpiakai anovdai 61 (1997), pp. 47-98; Leventis, Twelve Times in Nicosia, pp. 269-70.

2 Enlart, Gothic Art, pp. 160-63; Jeffery, A Description, pp. 45-7; Gunnis, Historic Cyprus,
pp- 75-6; Keshishian, Acvkwoia, pp. 152-4; Leventis, Twelve Times in Nicosia, p. 271.

2 On the impact of Frankish architecture on Greek Orthodox churches in Cyprus
during the Ottoman period cf. L A. Eliades, “TTagddwor kot avavEwor) 0TV aQXTeKTov )]
g Tovprokpatiag oty Kongo (1570-1878)," Kvmpiakai onovdai 72 (2008), pp. 111-37,
esp. 122-32.
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deologized forms of Neoclassicisms, an eclectic Gothicizing style was still
1sed, albeit sporadically, for ecclesiastical buildings. A case in point is the west
xtension of the old church of Agios Sinesios at Rizokarpaso, whose western
xtension and belfry were accomplished by the Greek Cypriot architect
“hristodoulos Michail at the time of Archbishop Sophronios III (1865-1900), as
ve are informed by an inscription. Their reproduction in a watercolour made
n 1878 by the British officer Hugh Sinclair demonstrates that the architectural
nterprise had taken place in the last years of Ottoman rule.” The decoration
f the south doorway is a strongly simplified version of a Gothic portal,
vhose pediment has been oddly decorated with a lion rendered in very flat
elief. The setting of the fagade (Figure 7.8 = Plate 10) combines suggestions
rom several Cypriot monuments: the doorway —embellished with crocketed
able, pinnacles, and colonnettes—has an openwork tympanum whose
urvilinear tracery is clearly inspired by the elegant doorway of the former
‘athedral of Saint Nicholas in Famagusta, by then known as the Mustafa
asha Mosque (Figure 7.9).” Two curious structures flank the main doorway:
n the left is a flat gabled niche wherein are represented two hands holding
crown, obviously taken after the model of the niches in the narthex of Saint
ophia, whereas the hollow recess to the right seems to be reminiscent of the
ltar canopy in Saint George of the Latins, Famagusta.®

Analogous quotations from the medieval monuments of Cyprus are clearly
etectable in the small church of Agios Thyrsos, not far from Rizokarpaso.
ven if tourist guides often hint at a date in the fifteenth century, there is no
oubt that it proves to be a revivalist building of the late nineteenth century.?”
he south doorway is treated in the same way as the main one at Rizokarpaso,
> that we can infer that it was accomplished by the same architect. It consists of
gable with foliage cresting and two figures of dragons at the lower end of its
oping sides; two splayed arches with broken angles decorated with stylized
aves; and pediment with bar tracery. In general terms, it seems to provide

2 R, Severis, Travelling Artists in Cyprus 1700-1960, London 2000, pp- 162-3. On the

wrch reconstruction in the nineteenth century see Chr.N. Taoushianis, Ai éxxAnoiat Tod
tloxapndoov, Nicosia 1983, pp. 9-19.

2 .
° Enlart, Gothic Art, p. 395;).-B. de Vaivre, “Sur les pas de Camille Enlart en Chypre,”

Lart gothique en Chypre, pp. 15-56 (40-42).

% On this church, see Enlart, Gothic Art, pp. 258-62; Jeffery, A Description, pp. 128-31;
. Coldstream, “The church of Saint George the Latin,” Report of the Department of An tiquities/
tprus (1975), pp. 147-51; Rivoire-Richard, “H yotBucj téxvn,” pp. 1423-4; Gioles, H
notiavacr téxvi, p. 150; A, Ozdural, “The church of St. George of the Latins in Famagusta:
case study in medieval metrology and design techniques,” in N.Y. Wu (ed.), Ad quadratum:
e Practical Application of Geometry in Medieval Architecture, Aldershot 2002, pp. 217-42;
arangou, Appoxywatog, pp. 122-5; Ph. Plagnieux and Th. Soulard, “L’église Saint-Georges
s La.tms (Saint-George des Génois?),” in Lart gothique en Chypre, pp. 243-7. An analogous
che is preserved also in the ruined church located close to the Mustafa Pasha Camii: cf.
dart, Gothic Art, pp. 296-7.

¥ Gunnis, Historic Cyprus, p. 208; cf. the detail published as an example of the art of the

isignan era in R. Hanworth, The Heritage of North Cyprus, Nicosia s.d. [ca. 1989], p. 98.
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Further examples of Gothic borrowings are the main doorway (Figure 7.13) of
the Great Mosque of Larnaka (1835-36)* and the arch marking the entrance to
the precinct of the Bayraktar Camii in Nicosia (1820).*

Such examples are sufficient to show that Gothic forms were used by the
major religious communities as a means to enhance the magnificence and
sumptuousness of their own cult-places, and that they could not be invested
with any special ideological meaning. It is hardly surprising then that such
forms, which constituted a distinctive hallmark of the town landscape and
were commonly regarded as efficacious paradigms of beautiful architecture,
were widely appropriated for the decoration of domestic buildings. Many
citizens of Nicosia continued to live in houses built in the Frankish period
and displaying such distinctive features as decorated entrances and angular
colonnettes. They were so rooted in local habits that they were not deemed
incompatible with non-Gothic architectural contexts, as is pointed out by the
pointed-arched and molded doorway included in the sumptuous Ottoman
house of the famous Greek dragoman Hadjigeorgakis Kornesios, built in
the late eighteenth century.® With such precedents, it is hardly surprising
that neo-Gothic features were widely employed in the eclectic fagades of
private houses of late nineteenth-century Nicosia, where they were freely
combined with Renaissance and Ottoman motifs (Figure 7.14).* The most
peculiar solutions were once again inspired by local models, such as in those
houses where the main entrance was flanked by two flat niches with trilobed
moldings which proudly evoked the sumptuous doorways of what was the
former Cathedral of Saint Sophia for the Greeks and the Ayasofya Camii for
the Muslim Turks.

3 Gazioglu, The Turks in Cyprus, p. 275; Muslim Places, p. 63-5; Bagigkan, Ottoman,
pp- 258-63.

35 Keshishian, Acvkwoia, p- 192; Gazioglu, The Turks in Cyprus, pp. 270-71; Avraamidés,

Muslim Places, p. 28; Bagiskan, Ottoman, pp. 101-8.

% M. Pihler (ed.), A Dragoman’s House: The House of Hadjigeorgakis Kornesios in Nicosia.

A Study of Its Background and Architecture, Nicosia 1993.

¥ On the composite character of Nicosia's domestic archilecture and the role of styles

as markers of identity cf. H. Pulhan and I. Numan, “The Traditional Urban House in Cyprus
as Material Expression of Cultural Transformation,” Journal of Design History 19 (2006),
pp- 105-19.



